#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JIMMY MAGEE

**APPELLANT** 

V.

**DOCKET NO. 2010-CC-01313** 

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY AND CENTRAL TRANSPORT, INC.

**APPELLEES** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Jimmy Magee, Appellant;
- 2. Lydia Roberta Blackmon, Attorney for Appellant Jimmy Magee;
- 3. LeAnne F. Brady, Attorney for Appellee MDES;

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?
- B. WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS?
- C. WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW VIOLATES THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS IN THAT THE APPELLEE CENTRAL TRANSPORT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY ESTABLISH THE EXISTENCE OF A COMPANY POLICY REGARDING ACCIDENTS AND FAILED TO PROVIDE NOTICE TO THE APPELLANT OF THE FINALITY OF ITS DECISION?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE-PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The appellant, Jimmy Magee, was employed as a truck driver with Central Transport, Incorporated (hereinafter referred to as "Central Transport") in Pearl, Mississippi, from February 5, 2007 until October 21, 2008. On October 21, 2008, Mr. Magee was discharged from his position for allegedly being involved in four chargeable accidents in less than a year's period of time.

On or about November 2, 2008, Appellant Magee filed an initial claim for benefits with the Mississippi Department of Employment Security. (TR. 1, 2; RE. 5-6) According to the employer, Central Transport, "Mr. Magee was discharged due to excessive accidents within a one year period..." (TR. 7-16; RE. 7) Said claim was denied and a Notice of Monetary Decision was issued by the MDES on January 28, 2009. (TR. 27; RE.20) The appellant timely appealed, and a telephonic hearing was conducted on April 6, 2009 before an Administrative Law Judge. The Administrative Law Judge, in a decision dated April 13, 2009, found that the appellant's "involvement in four accidents within approximately six months" constituted misconduct as defined by law, and therefore, upheld the Department's decision. (TR. 109, 110; RE.21-23)

The appellant then appealed the decision of the Administrative Law Judge and, on May 20, 2009, the MDES Board of Review issued a decision adopting the Findings of Fact and Opinion of the Administrative Law Judge and affirming the decision. (TR. 115, 116; RE.24-25). The appellant then appealed the final decision of the Mississippi Department of Employment Security to the Circuit Court of Rankin County. (RE. 26-29) Thereafter, in an opinion and order dated April 27, 2010, the Rankin County Circuit Court Judge, the Honorable William E. Chapman, affirmed the decision of the Board of Review finding that the Board of Review properly applied the law to the facts. (RE. 3) Appellant Magee filed a Motion to Reconsider and/or Vacate Order (RE. 61-64), which was subsequently denied on July 6, 2010 (R.E. 4). The appellant, Jimmy Magee, timely appealed to this court to reverse the decision of the Circuit Court and the MDES Board of Review. (RE. 75-77)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. Accident #1

According to the employer, Appellee Central Transport, Inc., the first "chargeable" accident took place on April 4, 2008, when the employer claims that the appellant made a right turn and hit the vehicle beside him. The appellant stated in the incident action report and at the hearing before the administrative law judge that the driver of the other vehicle (Vehicle #1) tried to pass him after the appellant had positioned his vehicle in the left lane in order to make a wide right turn." (TR. 55-56; 78-85; RE. 78-87). The accident report indicated that the appellant (in Vehicle #1) was traveling west bound on Amite Street at the intersection of Amite and Mill Streets when the appellant attempted to make a right turn from Amite Street on to Mill Street striking the front left side of the other vehicle (Vehicle #2). Furthermore, the accident report

indicates that the driver of Vehicle #2 was traveling west bound on Amite Street and had stopped at the light at the intersection of Amite and Mill Streets, and when the light changed the vehicle driven by the appellant (Vehicle #1) proceeded to make a right turn striking the front left side of Vehicle #2. (TR. 82-85; RE. 84-87)

At the hearing, the appellant explained that the accident on April 4, 2008 took place because he was making a right turn and the driver of the second vehicle was listening to his radio and not paying attention and attempted to pass the appellant's vehicle while he was making the right turn. The appellant contends that the driver of Vehicle #2 even drove the car up on the curb while trying to pass the appellant. (TR 64; RE. 88).

The appellant also testified that he had a witness—Dixie Herman—who is a driver for Jatran, and was in the far lane. Appellant Magee stated that he had given his employer the telephone number for the witness, but that Central Transport never contacted this witness because, according to Ted Matthews, they had the police statement which they felt was more credible. (TR 52; RE. 89)

#### B. Accident #2

The second "chargeable" accident allegedly occurred on April 12, 2008 when Mr. Magee pulled away from a dock and the rear of the trailer he was hauling hit the headlight of a parked truck. According to the employer, a person called and alleged that the appellant had, while driving a Central Transport, Inc. truck and trailer, struck a vehicle while backing up. The employer, through its representative, Ted Matthews, the Director of Safety for Central Transport, Inc. submitted several documents in support of its contention that the appellant had been involved in a "preventable or chargeable" accident. (TR. 86-91; RE. 90-95)

For this accident, although the appellant was accused of engaging in hit and run type conduct, law enforcement was not called. Also, this alleged accident was never investigated, in that no one from Central Transport ever went out and looked at the vehicle that was allegedly damaged, and, there were no scratch marks on the appellant's trailer or any other evidence of an accident. Additionally, it appears that the witness did not identify himself as the owner or caretaker of the vehicle. At the hearing, Mr. Matthews stated that he did not know who owned the vehicle; that he did not have any insurance information.

#### C. Accident #3

The third accident took place on September 9, 2008 when the trailer of the vehicle driven by the appellant, while making a wide turn, allegedly made contact with the vehicle driven by another truck driver causing a foot long scratch on the rear of the vehicle driven by the other person. Notably, the driver's name is not listed on any of the employer's records and the word "driver" is listed as the witness.

It is significant to note that Mr. Magee maintained in the incident action report that he was just about off the road when the driver of this vehicle, a dump truck, came over on him. (TR 92-99; RE. 96-103) Also, it is significant to note that once again, the police was not called for what was (if you are to take the word of the caller) a hit and run accident. Also, notably, this accident allegedly took place in the morning, but no report was made of it until late in the afternoon.

At the hearing before the administrative law judge, Appellant Magee denied ever receiving a warning after the September 9, 2008 accident that another accident could result in his discharge. He also denied being provided a copy of the company handbook as well as having

seen a copy of the policy being posted. (TR. 62-63; RE. 106-107)

#### D. Accident #4

The final and fourth accident at issue allegedly took place on October 21, 2008 when the appellant was pulling around the yard and hit a dolly. (TR. 100-106; R.E. 108-116) The appellant alleges that he did not damage the fender as described by the employer. Notably, the employer was unable to provide an answer as to whether anyone else witnessed the accident. Additionally, it appears that someone else drove the vehicle to Memphis after the appellant allegedly hit the dolly. (TR. 60-62; RE. 104-106) There were no pictures taken contemporaneously with the accident to support the employer's claim that the appellant caused the damage to the vehicle. The appellant, while admitting that he had hit the dolly, denied that the accident caused as much damage as indicated in photographs submitted by Mr. Matthews at the hearing before the administrative law judge.

The appellant also alleged that not any of the accidents for which he was terminated was adequately or thoroughly investigated; that there was insufficient proof of a company policy regarding the number of accidents that a Central Transport employee could have in one year; and that he did not receive notice of what conduct regarding accidents was prohibited or permitted.

#### IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

## A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Our Supreme Court has repeatedly held that it will not disturb the conclusions of an administrative agency unless "that agency's order (1) is not supported by substantial evidence; (2) is arbitrary and capricious; (3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency; or (4)

violates one's constitutional rights." Spears v. Mississippi Department of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks, (Miss. 2008).

Miss. Code Ann. §71-5-531 (2000) provides the appropriate standard of review in cases reviewing decisions of the Board of Review. This section provides that "[i]n any judicial proceeding under this section, the findings of the board of review as to the facts, if supported by evidence and in the absence of fraud, shall be conclusive, and the jurisdiction of said court shall be confined to questions of law." *Southwood Door Co. v. Burton*, 847 So.2d 833 (Miss. 2003). The burden is on the employer to show by substantial, clear and convincing evidence that the employee's actions bar him from unemployment benefits. *City of Clarksdale*, 699 So.2d at 580

Our Mississippi Supreme Court has defined misconduct connected with work as [c]onduct evincing such willful and wanton disregard of the employer's interest as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has a right to expect from his employee. Also, carelessness and negligence of such degree, or recurrence thereof, as to manifest culpability, wrongful intent or evil design and showing an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest or the employee's duties and obligations to his employer..." Richardson v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission and Community Counseling Service, 593 So.2d 31 (Miss. 1992). Furthermore, the general law is that work-connected negligence or inefficiency constitutes "misconduct" within the meaning of §71-5-513(A)(1)(b), the applicable statute, precluding a discharged employee from unemployment compensation benefits when of such degree or recurrence as to manifest culpability, wrongful intent, evil design, or an intentional and substantial disregard of an employer's interests or of an employee's duties and obligations. Wheeler v. Arriola, 408 So.2d 1381 (Miss. 1982); 26 A.L.R.

# B. THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

#### 1. Misconduct Defined

Misconduct is a question of fact for the Board of Review to resolve, and it has been held that the Board's decision should not be disturbed unless it is not supported by substantial evidence. In the case at hand, the decision of the Board should be reversed because it is not supported by the substantial evidence. Specifically, the decision should be overturned because (1) the alleged accidents were never thoroughly investigated; (2) there was insufficient evidence to show that the company had a policy prohibiting any number of accidents within a twelve month period and that the claimant was aware of such an alleged policy; (3) the claimant was not given sufficient notice that his conduct was prohibited and would lead to termination; and (4) the claimant did not engage in wilful misconduct.

#### 2. Accidents Were Not Thoroughly Investigated.

According to the employer, Central Transport, the appellant was discharged because he had four chargeable accidents within a short period of time. Specifically, according to Ted Matthews, the Safety Director at Central Transports, who testified at the hearing, "Mr. Magee was involved in four chargeable accidents in a brief period of time, less than a year." (TR. 40; RE. 117). When asked what a chargeable accident was, Mr. Matthews stated that a chargeable accident is a preventable accident. (TR. 50; RE. 118) In explaining further, Mr. Matthews testified that in determining whether the accident is preventable, they look to see if the driver could have done anything within reason to prevent the accident. (TR. 50; RE. 118).

#### a. Accident #1

In looking at the alleged accidents in totality and individually, it is clear that none of these accidents was thoroughly investigated, if at all. For example, according to the employer, the first "chargeable" accident took place on April 4, 2008, when the employer claims that the appellant made a right turn and hit the vehicle beside him. The appellant stated in the incident action report that "He hit me." (TR 79; RE. 81). The accident report indicated that the appellant (in Vehicle #1) was traveling west bound on Amite Street in Jackson, Mississippi at the intersection of Amite and Mill Streets when the appellant attempted to make a right turn from Amite Street on to Mill Street striking the front left side of the other vehicle (Vehicle #2). Further the accident report indicates that the driver of Vehicle #2 was traveling west bound on Amite Street and had stopped at the light at the intersection of Amite and Mill Streets, and when the light changed the vehicle driven by the appellant (Vehicle #1) proceeded to make a right turn striking the front left side of Vehicle #2.

At the hearing, the appellant explained that the accident on April 4, 2008 took place because he was making a right turn and the driver of the second vehicle was listening to his radio and not paying attention and attempted to pass the appellant's vehicle while he was making the right turn. The appellant contends that the driver of Vehicle #2 even drove the car up on the curb while trying to pass the appellant. (TR 64; RE. 88).

The appellant's version of what occurred is credible given that the damage to the second vehicle was only on the front left side of the vehicle. This clearly shows that the appellant had established his truck in the right lane. Otherwise, if the second vehicle was stopped at the light as indicated by the police report, Vehicle #2 would have had damage to the whole left side of his vehicle, but especially, the rear left side.

The appellant also testified that he had a witness—Dixie Herman—who is a driver for Jatran, and was in the far lane. Appellant stated that he had given him employer the telephone number for the witness, but that Central Transport never contacted this witness because, according to Ted Matthews, they had the police statement which they felt was more credible. (TR 52; RE. 89)

The problem with the employer relying on the police report is the fact that the police report is not credible in this case because it is based on statements provided by someone other than the police officer drafting the report, and moreover, this particular report does not give any indication as to whether Vehicle #2 drove upon the appellant's truck while the claimant was making a wide turn. This report does not provide a clue as to which driver was at fault, and therefore, it appears that the employer made its own conclusions. Therefore, in refusing to contact the unbiased Jatran driver, Dixie Herman, the employer admittedly failed to conduct a thorough or full investigation of this accident. It should also be noted that the employer's refusal to contact this witness was unreasonable behavior on the part of the employer.

#### b. Accident #2

The second "chargeable" accident allegedly occurred on April 12, 2008 when Mr. Magee pulled away from a dock and the rear of the trailer he was hauling hit the headlight of a parked truck.

For this accident, although he was accused of engaging in hit and run type conduct, the police was not called. Also, this alleged accident was never investigated in that no one from Central Transport ever went out and looked at the vehicle that was allegedly damaged, and, there were no scratch marks on the appellant's trailer or any other evidence of an accident. In this

case, the employer merely took the word of a caller—a caller who may or may not have been credible. Also, Central Transport never tried to find out who the owner of the allegedly damaged vehicle was. The employer never presented any information as to what type of vehicle the alleged damaged vehicle was. Additionally, the witness did not identify himself as the owner or caretaker of the vehicle. Furthermore, at the hearing, Mr. Matthews stated that he did not know who owned the vehicle; that he did not have any insurance information. (TR. 56-58; RE. 79; 119-120)

It is strange that the owner of the vehicle did not make the call to report the accident and it is incomprehensible why Central Transports did not seek to find out anything more about this alleged accident. Yet, despite the paucity of the evidence; despite all of the unknowns or unanswered questions surrounding this alleged accident on April 12, 2008; despite the fact that the claimant contended that he did not hit any truck; and despite the fact that there were no scratch marks or paint on his trailer, the employer charged this alleged accident to the claimant as a chargeable accident.

#### c. Accident #3

The third accident took place on September 9, 2008 when the trailer of the vehicle driven by the appellant, while making a wide turn, allegedly made contact with the vehicle driven by another truck driver causing a foot long scratch on the rear of the vehicle driven by the other person. It is significant to note that the witness was not identified in any of the documents presented. Again, this accident, like the one on April 12, 2008 was not thoroughly investigated, and it was charged against the appellant without a full investigation.

From the evidence presented, it appears that no one from Central Transports ever went

out and looked at the so-called damage to the truck or interviewed anyone other than the driver. Notably, the driver's name is not listed, although the word "driver" is listed as the witness. Therefore, presumably, the employer took the word of some unknown person as more credible than that of the appellant. It is significant to note that Mr. Magee maintained in the incident action report that he was just about off the road when the driver of this vehicle, a dump truck, came over on him. (TR 93; RE. 97) Also, it is significant to note that once again, the police was not called for what was (if you are to take the word of the caller) a hit and run accident. Also, notably, this accident allegedly took place in the morning, but no report was made of it until late in the afternoon. Finally, despite having very little information about this accident, it is significant to note that the employer did not even attempt to explain why this accident was deemed a "chargeable" accident to the appellant.

#### d. Accident #4

The final and fourth accident at issue allegedly took place on October 21, 2008 when the appellant was pulling around the yard and hit a dolly. Although he does not deny having been involved in this dolly accident, the appellant denied having caused the extent of the damage to the truck. (TR. 60-62; RE. 113, 114, 104) Specifically, the appellant alleges that he did not damage the fender as described by the employer. Notably, the employer was unable to provide an answer as to whether anyone else witnessed the accident. Additionally the owner could not say for certain whether anyone else drove the vehicle to Memphis after the appellant allegedly hit the dolly. There were no pictures taken contemporaneously with the accident to support the employer's claim that the appellant caused the damage to the vehicle.

From the beginning to the end, none of these accidents was ever properly or fully

investigated. While Ted Matthews testified that the employer looked at the nature of the accident to see if there was anything the employee could reasonably have done to prevent the accident, this statement is belied by what Central Transport actually did. The employer, for some unknown reason and without little or no proof, in most instances, took the mere word of unknown callers, biased witnesses, and persons without personal knowledge over the word of its own employee. In the one case in which it could have used an unbiased, reliable witness, Accident #1, Central Transport stated that it chose to rely on the accident report, a document often rejected as hearsay because of its unreliability. It is also significant to note that Central Transport is now denying that the appellant caused this particular accident in an action it is currently defending in the First Judicial District of the Circuit Court of Hinds County.

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