# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

# CAUSE NO. 2010-CC-01313

#### JIMMY MAGEE

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2010-CC-01313

# MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

APPELLEE

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

ALBERT BOZEMAN WHITE ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL MS BAR NO. MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY POST OFFICE BOX 1699 JACKSON, MS 39215-1699 Telephone: (601) 321-6073 Facsimile: (601) 321-6076

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In the case of <u>Wheeler v. Arriola</u>, 408 So. 2d 1381 (Miss. 1982), the Supreme Court adopted the following definition of misconduct in unemployment benefit cases, to-wit:

"The meaning of the term 'misconduct', as used in the unemployment compensation statute, was conduct evincing such willful and wanton disregard of the employer's interest as is found in deliberate violations or disregard of the standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect from his employees. Also, carelessness and negligence of such degree, or recurrence thereof, as to manifest culpability ..., and showing an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest or of the employee's duties and obligations, to his employer, came within the term....". (emphasis added).

In the instant case, Mr. Magee, an experienced truck driver, was discharged for willful and wanton repeated violation of the Employer's accident prevention policy, justifying immediate discharge. The Employer policy provided for discharge if a truck driver had four Grade III "chargeable" accidents within one year. The Employer representative's testimony and supporting documents established that Mr. Magee was involved in four avoidable, preventable accidents occurring between April 4, 2008, and October 21, 2008, approximately six months, which violated the policy. Mr. Magee was also progressively warned according to the policy. The evidence established that Mr. Magee had the ability to drive his truck safely; but due to his disregard, he continued to have accidents even after being placed on probation and after being told that his job was in jeopardy.

Since Mr. Magee was progressively disciplined, and since he continued in the same errors, *i.e.* to drive unsafely, his negligence was analogous to the conduct recognized in the case authorities as rising to the level of misconduct. <u>Shavers v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 763 So. 2d 183 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); <u>Kellar v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 756 So. 2d 840 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); <u>Reeves v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 806 So. 2d 1178 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002);

<u>Johnson v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1088 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000); <u>Claiborne v.</u> <u>Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 872 So. 2d 698 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

The testimony and documentary evidence substantially supports the Board of Review and Circuit Court decisions finding that Mr. Magee committed disqualifying misconduct by willfully and wantonly violating the Employer's accident prevention policy. Thus, this Honorable Court should affirm based upon the standard of review on appeal. <u>Richardson v. Miss. Emp. Sec.</u> <u>Comm'n.</u>, 593 So. 2d 31 (1992); <u>Booth v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 588 So. 2d 422 (Miss. 1991).

#### ARGUMENT

### Standard of Review

Mr. Magee's appeal is governed by Mississippi Code Annotated Section 71-5-531 (Rev. 2010), which provides for an appeal to the Circuit Court by any party aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Review. Section 71-5-531 states that the <u>appeals court shall consider the record</u> <u>made before the Board of Review and, absent fraud, shall accept the findings of fact if supported</u> <u>by substantial evidence, and the correct law has been applied.</u> (emphasis added). <u>Richardson v.</u> <u>Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 593 So. 2d 31 (1992); <u>Barnett v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 583 So. 2d 193 (Miss. 1991); Booth v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n., 588 So. 2d 422 (Miss. 1991).</u>

Further, a rebuttal presumption exists in favor of the Board of Review's decision and the challenging party has the burden of proving otherwise. <u>Allen v. Miss. Emp. Sec. Comm'n.</u>, 639 So. 2d 904 (Miss. 1994). The appeals court must not reweigh the facts nor insert its judgment for that of the agency. <u>Id.</u>

Further, misconduct imports conduct that reasonable and fair minded external observers would consider wanton disregard of the employer's legitimate interests. <u>Miss. Emp. Sec.</u> <u>Comm'n. v. Phillips</u>, 562 So. 2d 115, 118 (Miss. 1990).

#### Record Evidence

In the instant case, Ted Matthews, Safety Director, testified on behalf of the Employer. (TR p. 39-53). Mr. Matthews testified that Mr. Magee was employed as a tractor-trailer truck driver from February 5, 2007, to October, 21, 2008. Mr. Matthews discharged Mr. Magee because he violated the company's accident prevention progressive disciplinary policy, due to four chargeable accidents in less than a year. (TR p. 40).

Mr. Matthews explained that the company policy provided that any chargeable accidents within a twelve-month period were treated with progressive steps. (TR p. 40). He explained that after the first and second offense, the driver is given a written warning. The third offense results in termination, or in the event of a major accident, immediate termination. (TR p. 41). A copy of the policy was tendered into evidence as **Employer Exhibit 2**. (TR p. 44, 77).

The portion of the policy tendered into evidence provides as follows, to-wit:

Accidents (within any contiguous 12-month period):
(a) Minor chargeable accident after full investigation\*. 1<sup>st</sup> Offense-Final Written Warning\*

\* depending on severity and nature of accident.

(TR p. 77). The policy also sets out several additional disciplinary measures that would result from violation of safety issues, such as failing to report an accident timely, hauling freight safely, inspections, reckless driving, and complying with DOT hours of service requirements. (TR p. 77). As to reckless driving, the policy provides for a final written warning for a first offense, or immediate termination based upon the accident circumstances. (TR p. 77).

Mr. Matthews also testified that Mr. Magee violated the policy due to involvement in four accidents within one year. First, on April 4, 2008, he struck another vehicle while making a right turn. Second, on April 12, 2008, Mr. Magee stuck a stationary vehicle while backing up.

Third, on September 9, 2008, Mr. Magee struck the side of a turning vehicle while he was turning, damaging the side of his trailer. Fourth, the final accident occurred on October 21, 2008, when Mr. Magee struck a dolly on company premises, damaging the front of the trailer. (TR p. 41).

On September 9, 2008, Mr. Magee was placed on probation after his third accident occurred. (TR p. 41). Mr. Magee signed an <u>Incident Action Report</u> acknowledging that any future accident would result in termination, which was entered into evidence as part of Employer Exhibit 10. (TR p. 93). The Incident Action Report provided as follows, to-wit

Comments or Corrective Action: Jimmy this is your 3<sup>rd</sup> grade 111 accident in 5 months. **The company is placing you on <u>probation</u>. If you have an accident before April 9<sup>th</sup> (2011) you will be relieved of your duty as CTI. Jimmy you will need to ride with the trainer so you can make some right turns to make sure you are protecting the lanes you are turning onto. (Emphasis added).** 

(TR p. 93-94). Mr. Magee of course indicated on the Incident Action Report that the accident was not his fault. However, the investigation indicated that while making a wide turn, his rig trailer crossed into the opposite lane, and came in contact with a dump truck turning in the opposite direction. (TR p. 96-97). As a result, Mr. Magee was required to participate in defensive driving instruction, including use of mirrors and cornering. (TR p. 98). He was also given a Road Test. (TR p. 99). These documents were entered into evidence collectively as **Employer Exhibit #10**. (TR p. 48-49, 92-99).

Regarding each of Mr. Magee's accidents and progressive discipline, Mr. Matthews submitted several documents into evidence. The first, **Employer Exhibit #1**, was an accident report listing all four accidents with their dates, as well as an accident on **April 4**, 2007. (TR p. 44, 76). As noted above, a copy of the company accident policy was submitted as **Employer** 

**Exhibit #2**. (TR p. 44, 77). Ms. Matthews testified that Mr. Magee was involved in five accidents, but the last four occurring within one year were the cause of his discharge.

Regarding the April 4, 2008 accident, being the first accident, Employer Exhibits #3, #4, #5, #6, and #7 were submitted, and included the Safety Department's Accident Determination, Incident Action Report, Telephone Report of Accident, Accident Report, and State of Mississippi Uniform Crash Report, respectively. (TR p. 44-47, 78-85). In the Incident Action Report, Mr. Magee was instructed to ... "[M]ake sure when making a right turn block the right lane and use the next lane to make your turn, check the lanes and make sure you don't' allow for someone to get between you and the turning lane." (TR p. 79).

Based upon these instructions, it is apparent that the Employer concluded that Mr. Magee could have avoided the accident by completely blocking the right lane, or waiting for the other vehicle to pass in the right lane before completing his turn. Further, the State of Mississippi Uniform Crash Report indicates that when Mr. Magee moved to the left lane on a four-lane road, and turned back across the right lane while making a left hand turn, he turned across the path of the right hand lane, creating the situation causing the accident. (TR p. 84-84).

**Regarding the April 12, 2008 accident**, being the **second accident**, Mr. Matthews also submitted several documents. An Accident Determination was entered as **Employer Exhibit #8**. (TR p. 47, 86). **Employer Exhibit #9** included an Incident Action Report, Accident Report, and email from Larry Webb, Supervisor for Central Transport, to Andrea Franey regarding the witness's statement. (TR p. 47-48, 87-91). The Incident Action Report indicated as follows, towit:

WHEN PULLING AWAY FROM A CUSTOMER DOCK, A WITNESS SAID THE REAR OF THE TRAILER CAME AROUND AND HIT THE HEADLIGHT OF A PARKED TRUCK (TR p. 87).

Mr. Magee was given instructions on how to avoid such accidents in the future. The Incident Action Report and the email regarding the accident also indicated that a Glenn Phillips witnessed the accident, was interviewed, and stated that Mr. Magee hit the parked car while turning right, which was due to the rear of the trailer swinging out. (R.Vol. 2, P. 87, 91). Although this was a parked car, Mr. Magee again refused to take any responsibility for the accident; and incredulously even indicated that it did not actually happen. (TR p. 87).

**Regarding the September 9, 2008 accident**, being the **third accident**, the circumstances of that accident are discussed above. Exhibits submitted into evidence regarding that accident were an Accident Determination, Incident Action Report, Telephone Report of Accident, Accident Report, an email from Mr. Webb regarding re-certifying Mr. Magee, and a Road Test. (TR p. 92-99).

**Regarding the fourth and final accident occurring on October 21, 2008**, and resulting in discharge, Mr. Matthews submitted an Accident Determination, Incident Action Report, Telephone Report of Accident, Accident Report and photos. These documents were entered as **Employer Exhibit #11**, and included two photos of the damage to the vehicle. (TR p. 49-50, 100-106). These documents indicated that Mr. Magee ran over a dolly while moving his truck on the Employer's yard. The Employer determined this to be a third Grade III chargeable accident. (TR p. 100-104). Mr. Magee again did not accept any responsibility for the accident, but blamed it on the night driver for allegedly leaving the dolly in the "middle of the yard". (TR p. 104). The Employer found that the dolly had been apparently accidentally dropped and left on the yard. (TR p. 102). Mr. Matthews was also questioned about the term "**chargeable accidents**." He explained that chargeable accidents were preventable or avoidable accidents. Mr. Matthews further stated that the company looked to the nature of the accident; and if the driver could have done anything within reason to prevent the accident, and did not do so, the driver is charged with the accident. (TR p. 50).

Mr. Matthews was also questioned about whether Mr. Magee had been advised of the Employer's policy. Ms. Matthews stated that Mr. Magee received a written copy of the company policy when he was hired, and a copy of the policy was posted in the office by the time clock. (TR p. 42). Obviously, Mr. Magee was also informed of the policy with each warning or corrective action. He was specifically informed of further consequences of unsafe driving at that time that he was placed on probation. (TR p. 93.) Mr. Matthews also testified that the Employer's accident policy was discussed in company meetings, and posted around the facility. (TR p. 50).

Certainly it is apparent from the record that an emphasis was placed upon truck driving safety. It also certainly stands to reason, since the Employer's insurance rates, and insurability, would be affected by unsafe driving, and accident occurrence. Further, since the record reflects that Mr. Magee was given instructions on safety at the time of each occurrence, and required to undergo driving instruction and test after the third occurrence, he cannot persuasively deny knowing the policy. Further, the record indicates that he was specifically told after the third occurrence of the consequences of another accident.

Mr. Magee also cross-examined Mr. Matthews. (TR p. 51-53). Regarding the Employer's policy on contacting witnesses, Mr. Matthews explained that typically a witness will forward information to the Employer, and statements are taken directly from witnesses. (TR p.

51). Regarding the April 4, 2008 accident, Mr. Matthews also explained that they did not contact the witness, Dixie Harmon, because the Employer had the police statement, which was considered credible. (TR p. 52).

Mr. Magee testified next. (TR p. 54-68). He stated that he worked as a local delivery truck driver for Central Transport, Inc. from November 2005 through October 21, 2008, when he was discharged for excessive accidents. While he admitted to the dates and number of accidents, he denied the accidents were his fault. (TR p. 54).

Mr. Magee was first questioned about the April 4, 2008 accident. (TR p. 54-56). He testified that he was making a right turn when another vehicle tried to pass him. He made a wide turn on a four-lane road, taking his truck into the left lane before straightening back and turning across the right lane. As he was making his turn, another vehicle tried to pass him in the right lane, and Mr. Magee struck it. (TR p. 55). A City of Jackson Jatran driver witnessed the accident. (TR p. 56).

Mr. Magee was next questioned about the April 12, 2008 accident. (TR p. 56-58). He completely denied hitting a parked vehicle at the Jackson Country Club, even though there was an eye-witness that reported the accident to the Employer. (TR p. 57, , Employer Exhibit 9, p. 87, 91).

Mr. Magee was then questioned about the September 9, 2008 accident. (TR p. 58-59). Contrary to the Incident Accident Report, he alleged that a dump truck stopped in front of him as he was making a left turn. However, he admitted that the collision occurred, resulting in a halfinch scrape on the dump truck. Mr. Magee also acknowledged that the dump truck driver called the Employer later in the day to report that Mr. Magee had hit him. (TR p. 58). Mr. Magee testified that no police report was made, indicating that he and the other driver left the accident scene without calling the police. (TR p. 59).

Finally, Mr. Magee was questioned about the October 21, 2008 accident. (TR p. 60-62). Mr. Magee admitted to hitting the dolly, but denied that the accident caused as much damage as seen in the pictures, presumably suggesting that the pictures were somehow altered without any substantiation. (TR p. 60-62).

Regarding whether he knew that involvement in another chargeable accident prior to April 4, 2009, would result in his discharge, he denied being so informed. He denied being informed that his job was in jeopardy, even though he signed the Incident Action Report putting him on probation due to the September 9, 2008 accident, and informing him that his job was in jeopardy. In spite of the Employer's testimony regarding training and meetings, he also denied being given a copy of the company handbook, as well as having knowledge of the policy being posted in the office. (TR p. 62-63).

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